A. INTRODUCTION 


Appellant Helene M. Raun is an 89 year old widow. This matter 

involves damages suffered by Mrs. Raun from the wrongful dispossession 

from her home by actions taken by the named Respondents, to-wit, 

members of the Caudill Groupl and John P. Gleesing. 

In 2000, using their life savings, Mrs. Raun and her late husband, 

Chester E. Raun, purchased a bungalow at the Clare House Bungalow 

Homes, a residential facility marketed to seniors 55 years and older by 

Clare House Bungalow Homes, LLC ("Clare House"). The Resident 

Agreement between Mr. and Mrs. Raun and Clare House was recorded 

with the Spokane County Auditor's Office on December 20, 2001. 

In 2004 and 2005, Clare House obtained two loans from the 

Caudill Group totaling $465,000.00. Commencing in 2008, the Caudill 

1 "Caudill Group" refers collectively to Respondents John H. Caudill and 
Lucille J. Caudill, as Trustees for the Caudill Living Trust dated 
November 1, 2000, Wanell J. Barton, as Trustee for the Wanell J. Barton 
Family Trust dated May 7, 1998 and any amendments, Earl L. Boettcher 
and Mary C. Boettcher, as Trustees for the Boettcher Living Trust dated 
May 12, 1992, Belva M. Williams, Larry Loutherback and Shanna 
Loutherback, as Trustees of the Loutherback Living Trust dated February 
9,2001, and Dale Walker and Carol Walker. Named Respondents Dirk A. 
Caudill and Lauren C. Caudill, as Trustees of the Caudill Family Trust 
dated December 11, 2002, were never served and are not a party to this 
appeal. 
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Group and Mr. Gleesing commenced foreclosure proceedings on Clare 

House which had defaulted on the loans. 

In connection with the foreclosure, Mr. Gleesing began issuing 

Notices of Trustee's Sale to the residents of Clare House Bungalow 

Homes threatening them with summary eviction on the 20th day following 

the Trustee's Sale pursuant to the Unlawful Detainer Act, RCW 59.12. 

In issuing these notices, neither the Caudill Group nor Mr. 

Gleesing performed due diligence to determine the true nature of Mrs. 

Raun's occupancy. 

Over tinle, as the foreclosure process continued, Mrs. Raun, in 

response to the stress, fear and anxiety caused by the various notices 

threatening eviction, vacated her bungalow on July 1,2010. 

On December 14, 2010, the United States Bankruptcy Court 

confirmed that Mrs. Raun had a superior right to occupancy vis-a.-vis the 

interest held by the Caudill Group. 

On September 27, 2012, Mrs. Raun initiated the present litigation 

by filing her Complaint. The Complaint asserted seven causes of action 

against the Caudill Group and Mr. Gleesing: (1) unlawful eviction; (2) 

violation of RCW 59.18.290; (3) continuing trespass; (4) violation of 

RCW 4.24.630; (5) tort of outrage; (6) negligent infliction of emotional 

distress; and (7) conversion. 



The causes of action sought recovery in two categories of damages 

sustained by Mrs. Raun. The first category involves damages caused by 

the Caudill Group and Mr. Gleesing for wrongfully dispossessing Mrs. 

Raun of her residence. The second category sought damages for the 

emotional distress inflicted upon Mrs. Raun by the Caudill Group and Mr. 

Gleesing in connection with said dispossession. 

On February 4, 2013, the trial court dismissed the causes of action 

for unlawful eviction, violation of RCW 59.18.290, continuing trespass, 

violation of RCW 4.24.630 and conversion on the sole basis that Mrs. 

Raun had abandoned her residence and thereby had no interest left to 

claim in her bungalow. 

On February 7, 2014, the trial court dismissed the remaining two 

causes of action. As to the cause of action for the tort of outrage, the trial 

court predicated dismissal on the grounds that the "service of notice [did] 

not amount to intolerable and outrageous conduct." As to the claim for 

negligent infliction of emotional distress, the trial court dismissed the 

claim as to Mr. Gleesing on the finding that he had fulfilled the duties of a 

trustee and further, dismissed the claim as to the Caudill Group finding 

that, because the first notice received by Mrs. Raun was in May of 2008, 

the statute of limitations had run as of May 2011. 
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This appeal is taken from the orders of dismissal entered February 

4, 2013 and February 7, 2014. 

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in dismissing the causes of action for 

unlawful eviction, violation of RCW 59.18.290, continuing trespass, 

violation of RCW 4.24.630 and conversion on the sole basis that Mrs. 

Raun had voluntarily vacated her residence and thereby had no interest left 

to claim in her bungalow. (CP 326-330; RP 24:4-13). 

2. The trial court erred in dismissing Mrs. Raun's cause of 

action for the tort of outrage based upon the finding that the conduct of the 

Caudill Group and Mr. Gleesing in foreclosing on Clare House without 

having done due diligence as to the ownership interests of the residents, 

including Mrs. Raun, did not amount to outrageous conduct as a matter of 

law. 

3. The trial court erred in dismissing Mrs. Raun's cause of 

action for negligent infliction of emotional distress as to Mr. Gleesing 

based upon the conclusion that Mr. Gleesing, as a matter of law, had 

fulfilled his duties as a trustee. 

4. The trial court erred in dismissing Mrs. Raun's cause of 

action for negligent infliction of emotional distress as to the Caudill Group 

based upon the statute of limitations. 
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5. The trial court erred in granting Mr. Gleesing's motion for 

sanctions under CR 11. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Whether evidence that Mrs. Raun vacated her home under 

the threat of summary eviction raises a genuine issue of material fact 

precluding summary judgment as to causes of action for unlawful eviction, 

violation of RCW 59.18.290, continuing trespass, violation of RCW 

4.24.630 and conversion. 

2. Whether the Caudill Group and/or Mr. Gleesing, in his 

capacity as trustee, by failing to make a reasonable and prudent inquiry as 

to the terms of Mrs. Raun's occupancy at Clare House Bungalow Homes, 

breached their duty to avoid negligent inflection of emotional distress 

upon Mrs. Raun. 

3. Whether Mrs. Raun was entitled to maintain her cause of 

action for negligent infliction of emotional distress for the period from 

September 27, 2009 through September 27,2012. 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Appellant, Helene M. Raun, is 89 years old. In 2000 Mrs. 

Raun, then 75 years old, and her husband Chester E. Raun learned about 

the Clare House Bungalow Homes. Mr. and Mrs. Raun had been 

searching for a retirement community into which they could settle, and 
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after investigating Clare House Bungalow Homes, believed that they had 

finally found the right opportunity. (CP 206). 

Clare House Bungalow Homes was developed by Clare House. 

Clare House Bungalow Homes consisted of 6 buildings containing 28 

separate single family attached residences (bungalows). The bungalows 

shared amenities with a 124-unit low income apartment facility for senior 

citizens constructed on adjacent property, including a library, recreation 

center, indoor swimming pool, computer lab, and meeting room. The 

bungalows were marketed to senior citizens 55 years and older. (CP 206). 

Harry A. Green was the Manager of Clare House. (CP 791, 798-799). 

Each resident owner was required to enter into a Resident 

Agreement with Clare House. Under the terms of the Resident 

Agreement, the individual agreed to pay Clare House an occupancy fee in 

return for which the resident owner would receive the right to possess and 

live in the bungalow for life or until the resident became unable to live 

independently or with the aid of another resident or caregiver. The 

Resident Agreement was terminable by the resident at any time for any 

reason. During the term of the Resident Agreement, the resident would be 

responsible only for payment of a fixed monthly common area 

maintenance assessment, reimbursement of a pro rata share of real 

property taxes and payment of utilities for the bungalow. Upon 

-6



termination of the agreement, the resident or resident's heirs would 

receive a percentage of the occupancy fee originally paid. (CP 206, 214

224). 

In the summer of 2000, Mr. and Mrs. Raun entered into a Resident 

Agreement with Clare House. The Agreement became effective August 2, 

2000. Pursuant to the Resident Agreement, Mr. and Mrs. Raun paid Clare 

House an occupancy fee of $132,500. The Resident Agreement signed by 

Mr. and Mrs. Raun contained the following provisions: 

1. Mr. and Mrs. Raun were given exclusive occupancy rights 

to unit 2506. 

2. The right to occupancy was non-assignable. 

3. Mr. and Mrs. Raun could live in the bungalow for life or 

until they became unable to live independently or with the aid of another 

resident or caregiver. 

4. Mr. and Mrs. Raun could terminate the Resident 

Agreement at any time. 

5. Upon termination of the Resident Agreement, Mr. and Mrs. 

Raun would receive 80% of their occupancy fee ($106,000). 

(CP 206-207,214-224). 
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On December 20, 2001, Mr. and Mrs. Raun recorded their 

Resident Agreement with the Spokane County Auditor's Office. (CP 207, 

214-224). 

On or about March 20, 2002, Mr. and Mrs. Raun executed a 

Resident Agreement Addendum, which modified the Repurchase of Unit 

provisions of the Resident Agreement so that upon termination, instead of 

receiving 80% of the occupancy fee, Mr. and Mrs. Raun would receive the 

greater of "eighty-five percent (85%) of the occupancy fee paid by the 

immediate successor resident of the Unit ... or (b) eighty-five percent 

(85%) of the original Occupancy Fee paid by the Resident .... " (CP 207, 

226). 

On November 24, 2004, the Caudill Group loaned $400,000 to 

Clare House. The loan was secured by a Deed of Trust on the property 

which was recorded with the Spokane County Auditor's Office. On or 

about April 7, 2005, the Caudill Group loaned Clare House an additional 

$265,000. This second loan was also secured by a Deed of Trust on the 

property which was recorded with the Spokane County Auditor's Office. 

(CP 207, 228-235). 

By April of 2008, Clare House had defaulted on both loans. As a 

result, the Caudill Group initiated foreclosure proceedings on the property. 

(CP 207). 
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On or about May 14, 2008, Mr. and Mrs. Raun received a notice 

signed by Mr. Gleesing, as Trustee under the Deed of Trust, giving them 

notice that a Trustee's Sale on the subject property would be held on 

November 7, 2008. In this notice, Mr. and Mrs. Raun were advised that 

the effect of the sale would be to deprive them of all interest in their 

bungalow. (CP 207,237-240). 

On October 29, 2008, Clare House filed suit in Spokane County 

Superior Court, Clare House Bungalow Homes, LLC v. Caudill, et aI., et 

ux., Cause No. 08-2-04898-0 ("Clare House LLC Lawsuit") to restrain the 

Trustee's Sale. On November 6, 2008, the Court entered an Order 

restraining and enjoining the Trustee's Sale until March 9, 2009. CP 207

208. 

On February 3, 2009, Mr. and Mrs. Raun, as members of the Clare 

House Bungalow Homes Residents Association ("Clare House Residents 

Association"), filed a Complaint to Quiet Title, Restrain Trustee's Sale 

and for Other Relief in Spokane County Superior Court, Clare House 

Bungalow Homes Residents Association v. Clare House Bungalow Homes, 

LLC, et aI., et ux., Cause No. 09-2-00478-6 ("Clare House Residents 

Association litigation"). (CP 208). 

On or about July 6, 2009, Mr. and Mrs. Raun received an 

Amended Notice of Trustee's Sale signed by Mr. Gleesing, advising them 
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that a Trustee's Sale would be held on August 21, 2009. In the amended 

notice, they were advised that after the 20th day following the Trustee's 

Sale, they would be subject to summary eviction under the Unlawful 

Detainer Act, RCW 59.12. (CP 208, 242-246). 

On August 20, 2009, Clare House filed a Voluntary Petition under 

Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court 

for the Eastern District of Washington, In Re Clare House Bungalow 

Homes, LLC, No. 09-04651-PCWll and an automatic stay was issued 

pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 362. As a result of the automatic stay, the 

Trustee's Sale was continued to October 23, 2009. (CP 208-209, 252

253). 

On October 11, 2009, Chester E. Raun passed away at the age of 

86. 	 Mr. and Mrs. Raun had been married for 63 years. (CP 209). 

On October 23, 2009, Mr. Gleesing continued the Trustee's Sale to 

December 18, 2009. (CP 209, 255-256). 

On November 18, 2009, the Clare House Residents Association 

lawsuit, Spokane County Superior Court Cause No. 09-2-00478, was 

removed to the United States Bankruptcy Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1452, where it was heard as an adversary proceeding under the Clare 

House bankruptcy, Clare House Bungalow Homes Residents Association 

-10



v. Clare House Bungalow Homes, LLC, et ai, Adv. No. 09-80164-PCWll 

("Adversary Proceeding"). (CP 209). 

On April 19, 2010, Mrs. Raun received a Second Amended Notice 

of Trustee's Sale signed by Mr. Gleesing, giving notice that a Trustee's 

Sale would be held on June 11, 2010. In the second amended notice, Mrs. 

Raun was again advised that after the 20th day following the Trustee's 

Sale, she would be subject to summary eviction under the Unlawful 

Detainer Act, RCW 59.12. (CP 209, 258-262). 

On June 11, 2010, Mr. Gleesing continued the Trustee's Sale to 

July 16, 2010 and on July 16, 2010, continued the Trustee's Sale to 

October 8, 2010. (CP 209,264-267). 

On July 1, 2010, Mrs. Raun was 84 years old and alone, having 

lost her husband, and felt that she had no option but to move out of her 

bungalow. In her letter of May 27, 2010 to Mr. Green, Mrs. Raun stated 

that her decision was made under the stress of what seemed to be a 

constant stream of threats of summary eviction by the Caudill Group and 

the Trustee. (CP 209-210, 269). 

Lawrence S. Eastburn, MD was Mrs. Raun's primary care 

physician from 2004 through 2012. (CP 932). Dr. Eastburn treated Mrs. 

Raun for diabetes and asthma. (CP 196). In conversations with Mr. and 

Mrs. Raun, Dr. Eastburn became aware of their situation with the Clare 
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House foreclosure and confirmed that the threat of losing their home and 

life savings understandably exerted highly unpleasant mental reactions 

upon them, including fright, shame, humiliation, en1barrassment, anger, 

and worry. (CP 933-934). Dr. Eastburn confirmed that during this time, 

Mrs. Raun's medical records documented a worsening of her diabetes as 

reflected in her elevated Al C test results. (CP 934-935, 980-985). Dr. 

Eastburn also confirmed that the medical records also documented a 

worsening of Mrs. Raun's asthmatic condition over the same period. (CP 

936, 986-987). Dr. Eastburn, on a more probable than not basis, based on 

a reasonable degree of medical certainty, was of the opinion that as a 

result of the threatened foreclosure and the loss of their home and life 

savings, Mrs. Raun suffered severe emotional distress which negatively 

impacted both her diabetic and asthmatic conditions. (CP 935-937). 

In the Adversary Proceeding, the Clare House Residents 

Association filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of whether 

the Clare House residents, including Mrs. Raun, held rights superior to the 

Caudill Group. On December 14, 2010, the Bankruptcy Court issued its 

Order and Judgment holding, in pertinent part that the Resident 

Agreement created an interest in the property for each resident and that 

Mrs. Raun, having recorded her Resident Agreement, held a superior right 

to occupancy vis-a.-vis the interest held by the Caudill Group under the 
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Deed of Trust. (CP 210, 271-280). In its Memorandum Decision, the 

Bankruptcy Court determined that: 

The Caudill Group obtained a title report on the property, 
which revealed the two recorded Resident Agreements, but 
the evidence at trial did not reveal that any inquiry was 
made regarding the existence of other Resident Agreements 
or even the terms of the recorded Resident Agreements. . .. 
The evidence at trial did not reveal that any inquiry was 
made regarding the occupancy of the bungalows. Mr. 
Blanchat knew the real property constituted a retirement 
conlmunity which was at "full capacity." The evidence at 
trial did not reveal that any further inquiry was made. 

[The Caudill Group] had actual notice of the occupancy of 
the bungalows by residents. [The Caudill Group] had a 
duty to make reasonable and prudent inquiry as to the 
terms of that occupancy if the [Caudill Group] desired to 
obtain rights greater than the occupants. By failing to make 
any inquiry, [the Caudill Group] is subject to the terms 
of the Resident Agreement to the extent the Resident 
Agreement grants rights in the real property. 

(CP 210, 289-290 (emphasis added)). 

On April 8, 2011, the Bankruptcy Court, after trial in the 

Adversary Proceeding, entered an Order and Judgment holding that all 

Clare House residents held rights to occupancy and possession superior to 

those of the Caudill Group. (CP 210,282-294). 

The Bankruptcy Court's Order and Judgment was appealed to the 

United States District Court for the Eastern District of Washington. On 

September 28, 2012, the District Court issued its Order on Appeal, 
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affirming the Order and Judgment entered by the Bankruptcy Court. (CP 

210,296-314). 

The Trustee's Sale was finally held on September 30, 2011, and 

the Clare House bungalows, including Mrs. Raun's, were sold to the 

Caudill Group. (CP 210). 

Mrs. Raun's Complaint, filed on September 27, 2012, asserted the 

following seven causes of action against the Caudill Group and Mr. 

Gleesing: (1) Unlawful Eviction; (2) Violation of RCW 59.18.290; (3) 

Continuing Trespass; (4) Violation ofRCW 4.24.630; (5) Tort of Outrage; 

(6) Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress; and (7) Conversion. (CP 4

32). 

The Complaint asserted that the Caudill Group, prior to initiating 

foreclosure proceedings on Clare House, failed to conduct a reasonable 

and prudent inquiry into the ownership interests of the residents of Clare 

House and continually threatened Mrs. Raun and the other residents of 

Clare House with summary eviction 20 days after completion of a 

Trustee's Sale. Mrs. Raun, under duress from over two years of such 

threats, vacated her bungalow. (CP 4-32). Mrs. Raun demanded the case 

be tried to a jury. (CP 387-389). 

On November 14, 2012, the Caudill Group and Mr. Gleesing filed 

their Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim upon which Relief 
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may be Granted and Affirmative Defenses ("Motion to Dismiss").2 (CP 

153-156). Dismissal was sought upon three grounds: (1) the doctrine of 

collateral estoppel; (2) the doctrine of res judicata; and (3) failure to state a 

claim upon which relief may be granted under CR 12(b)(6). (CP 134

152). 

The Motion to Dismiss was heard on Decernber 21,2012. Because 

both plaintiff and defendants presented matters outside the pleadings 

which were not excluded by the Court, the Motion to Dismiss was treated 

as one for summary judgment under CR 56. (CP 326-330). 

After hearing arguments of counsel, the Court rendered an oral 

ruling finding that none of the causes of action were barred by either the 

doctrine of collateral estoppel or the doctrine of res judicata. (RP 22: 14

23: 11). The trial court then divided the causes of action into two groups. 

The first group, "property tort claims," included the claims for (1) 

Unlawful Eviction; (2) Violation of RCW 59.18.290; (3) Continuing 

Trespass; (4) Violation of RCW 4.24.630; and (5) Conversion (the First, 

Second, Third, Fourth and Seventh causes of action). The second group 

consisted of emotional distress torts, which included claims for: (1) Tort of 

2 At this time, Mr. Gleesing was represented by attorney John D. 
Munding. On February 22, 2013, attorney Patrick W. Harwood 
substituted in as attorney for Mr. Gleesing. 
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Outrage; and (2) Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress (the Fifth and 

Sixth causes of action). (RP 23:17-22). 

With respect to the property tort clainls, the trial court reasoned 

that while the Bankruptcy Court and the Federal District Court had 

determined Mrs. Raun had a right of occupancy which was superior to that 

of the Caudill Group, Mrs. Raun had "nlade the choice to leave" her 

bungalow on July 1, 2010. (RP 24:4-11). Accordingly, the trial court 

ruled that because Mrs. Raun's "choice [affected] all of the property tort 

claims," dismissal solely on this basis was appropriate. (RP 24: 11-13; CP 

326-330). 

However, the trial court ruled that the remaining claims for 

emotional distress and outrage would be allowed to proceed to trial. In 

this regard, the trial court rejected the Caudill Group's and Mr. Gleesing's 

contention that all they did was to send the statutory notice, noting that, as 

found by the Bankruptcy Court, "[t]hey really did not do due diligence 

before ... serving all these notices." (RP 24:23-24; CP 210, 289-299, 326

330). 

The trial court's Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part

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