#### No. 323668

OCT 13 2014

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION HI STATE OF WASHINGTON By

Spokane County Cause No. 12-2-03834-6

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

#### HELENE M. RAUN, Appellant,

v.

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Raun's stated five Assignments of Error may be further reduced to the following two issues: (1) Whether Mr. Gleesing had a duty to perform an investigation as to Raun's rights of occupancy and failed to do so; and (2) whether her receipt of the Notice of Trustee's Sale and other notices required by the DTA constitute a "threat" of eviction proximately causing Raun her emotional distress. The record on review establishes the trial court properly ruled Mr. Gleesing did not breach any duty owed as the Deed of Trust Trustee and the statutory notices at issue do not constitute a "threat" as a matter of law.

///

///

# A. The Standard of Review on the Motion to Dismiss and Motions for Summary Judgement is *De Novo*.

A CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss is treated as a motion for summary judgment when "matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the court." CR 12 (b). An order granting a motion for summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*. *Schaaf v. Highfield*, 127 Wn.2d 17, 21, 896 P.2d 665 (1995). The Appellate Court undertakes the same inquiry as the trial court, viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.*; *Thompson v. Peninsula School Dist.*, 77 Wn.App. 500, 504, 893 P.2d 760 (1995). Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*; CR 56(c).

The nonmoving party must set forth specific facts that rebut the moving party's contentions and disclose genuine issues of material fact.

Twelker v. Shannon & Wilson, Inc., 88 Wn.2d 473, 479, 564 P.2d 1131 (1977); CR 56(e). A nonmoving party may not rely on "conclusory allegations, speculative statements, or argumentative assertions" to prevent summary judgment as they are insufficient to raise an issue of fact.

Walker v. King County Metro, 126 Wn.App. 904, 912, 109 P.3d 836 (2005).

## B. The Standard of Review for a CR 11 Violation is an abuse of discretion.

The standard of appellate review for a CR 11 violation is an abuse of discretion. *Biggs v. Vale*, 124 Wn.2d 193, 197, 876 P.2d 448 (1994) citing *Washington State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 338-39, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons. *MacDonald v. Korum Ford*, 80 Wn.App. 877, 884, 912 P.2d 1052, 1057 (1996) (citations omitted).

# C. The Trial Court Properly Ruled Raun's Seven Causes of Action Must be Dismissed as a Matter of Law as Mr. Gleesing only had a duty to Comply with the Obligations Set Forth in the Deed of Trust and the Deed of Trust Act.

Raun erroneously argues Mr. Gleesing had a duty to conduct some form of investigation to determine the existence of Raun's occupancy rights, or the existence of her Resident Agreement, prior to issuing the Notice of Trustee's Sale. App. Brief, at pp. 25-26. Raun fails to provide any factual basis or on point legal authority to support her argument. She also fails to articulate what additional investigation or inquiry Mr. Gleesing should have made. Any duty owed by Mr. Gleesing in his capacity as trustee is limited exclusively to the instructions in the Deed of Trust and the DTA.

## 1. The Trustee in a Nonjudicial Foreclosure Only Owes an Occupant or Tenant a Duty to Comply with the DTA.

A deed of trust is a form of a three-party mortgage, involving not only a lender and a borrower, but also a third party called a trustee.

\*Vawter v. Quality Loan Service Corp. of Wash., 707 F.Supp.2d 1115, 1121

(W.D. Wa 2010). When enacting the DTA, the Washington Legislature sought to promote the following three primary goals:

- (1) That the nonjudicial foreclosure process should be efficient and inexpensive;
- (2) That the process should result in interested parties having an adequate opportunity to prevent wrongful foreclosure; and
- (3) That the process should promote stability of land titles. *Id.* (citations omitted).

Once a default on a secured obligation occurs, and the beneficiary notifies the trustee of the default, then the trustee <u>must</u> initiate the nonjudicial foreclosure process by giving written notice of default to the borrower and grantor. RCW 61.24.030(8). A notice of default issued by the trustee must contain specific language which provides notice not only to the grantor of the deed of trust, but also to any occupants or tenants who may be residing on the property subject to the deed of trust. RCW 61.24.040.

Upon receipt of the statutory notice of trustee's sale, the DTA permits the borrower or grantor, as well as occupants or tenants, to restrain a trustee's sale by court action "on any proper legal or equitable ground." RCW 61.24.130(1).

The trustee does not have a duty to advise either the grantor or purchasers of a sale as to their legal duties or about the condition of title. *McPherson v. Purdue*, 21 Wn.App. 450, 585 P.2d 830 (1978) (trustee has no duty to purchaser to disclose condition of title). The trustee's primary duty is to conduct the trustee's sale according to the DTA. Even if nonprejudicial lapses occur in the statutory procedures, such lapses will not make the sale automatically voidable. *Koegel v. Prudential Mut. Savings Bank*, 51 Wn.App. 108, 752 P.2d 385 (1988).

In the case at bar, Raun does not make <u>any</u> allegation that Mr. Gleesing violated the DTA. The very fact Raun received the statutory notices is clear and convincing proof Mr. Gleesing was compliant with the DTA and those duties imposed upon him by the Deed of Trust.

# 2. Raun Provides No Legal Authority To Support the Allegation Mr. Gleesing Owed Her a Duty to Investigate her Occupancy Rights.

It is undisputed Harry Green and Clare House had defaulted on the loans secured by the Deed of Trust at issue. CP 992, 1026, 1118. It is also undisputed Mr. Gleesing, as the trustee, was instructed to commence the foreclosure action by the Deed of Trust beneficiaries. CP 855, 992. Once a default on a secured obligation occurs, and the beneficiary notifies the trustee

of the default, the trustee must initiate the nonjudicial foreclosure process by giving written Notice of Default to the borrower and grantor. RCW 61.24.030(8). The statutorily required Notice of Trustee's Sale must contain specific language which provides notice not only to the grantor of the deed of trust, but also to any occupants or tenants who may be residing on the property subject to the deed of trust. RCW 61.24.040; 61.24.060.

Raun quotes from a 1908 case and a 1928 case as her sole legal support that Mr. Gleesing had a duty to inquire as to Raun's property rights. App. Brief at 26, citing *Peterson v. Weist*, 48 Wash. 339, 341, 93 P. 519 (1908); *Oliver v. McEachran*, 149 Wash. 433, 439; 271 P. 93 (1928). The quoted cases are not applicable to the facts at bar. Both the *Peterson* and *Oliver* cases specifically limit their respective decisions to "the purchaser" of real property having a duty to investigate title. A "purchaser" at a trustee's sale who fails to investigate title does so at their own risk. See *McPherson*, 21 Wn.App. at 453, 585 P.2d at 831 (1978). The holdings of these two cases are consistent with *McPherson* which held a trustee at a trustee's sale has no duty to advise a purchaser of the condition of title. *Id*.

In the case at bar, there is no allegation Mr. Gleesing violated the DTA. There is no allegation Mr. Gleesing breached his fiduciary duties as trustee. It is undisputed the Notices received by Plaintiff were mandated by the DTA and contained specific language required by the State Legislature.

Most importantly, it is undisputed Harry Green and Clare House were in default as to the loans secured by the Deed of Trust to the Clare House property. All notices issued by Mr. Gleesing as trustee were legally and lawfully sent.

3. Mr. Gleesing Reasonably Relied Upon the Policies of Title
Insurance and Representations of the Loan Broker in
Determining Encumbrances as to the Clare House
Property.

Even if the court were to find some duty of investigation was required by Mr. Gleesing, reasonable minds cannot differ that he could not do more than what he had done to identify potentially interested parties and encumbrances to the property at issue.

At the time the initial loans and Deed of Trust were closed by Mr. Gleesing, he reasonably relied on the loan broker, Ron Webster, that the occupants were "renters." CP 824, 825, 991, 1114. Mr. Webster directed an Assignment of Rents to be drafted. The Assignment of Rents was agreed to and signed by Mr. Green on behalf of Clare House. *Id.* At the time the loans were closed, a policy of title insurance was issued by First American Title Insurance Company on November 24, 2004. The purpose of obtaining a policy of title insurance is to determine potential interested parties and/or encumbrances to the property at issue. The policy did not identify the Raun's

recorded Resident Agreement or the existence of any other resident agreement. CP 1012-1024.

In May of 2008, when Mr. Gleesing was directed to commence a foreclosure action he contacted Allegro Escrow to confirm the loans were in fact in default. Allegro confirmed the loans were in default. CP 1026.

Mr. Gleesing then issued the Notice of Default and other statutorily required notices pursuant to his duty as the trustee and per the DTA. Prior to recording the Notice of Trustee's Sale as required by the DTA, Mr. Gleesing contacted Allegro Escrow a second time to confirm Clare House had not cured the default on the loans. CP 993, 1038. Allegro Escrow confirmed the loans continued to be in default pursuant to a July 11, 2008, payoff quote provided to Mr. Gleesing. *Id*.

Prior to recording the Notice of Trustee's Sale, Mr. Gleesing obtained a Trustee's Sale Guarantee Policy from First American Title Insurance Company dated July 3, 2008. CP 1028-1036. First American Title describes the purpose of a Trustee's Sale Guarantee ("TSG") as follows:

The TSG assures the following crucial information necessary to execute a valid foreclosure: The current owner of record vesting, judgments, **liens and encumbrances**, priority of foreclosing mortgage, bankruptcy case information, property tax information, **parties required by law to be notified of foreclosure**, property address verification, and newspaper entities for publication.

CP 1063, Emphasis added.

The TSG did not identify the existence of Raun's Resident Agreement, or any other resident agreement. CP 1028-1036.

An Amended Trustee's Sale Guarantee was issued on October 27, 2008. Again, a recorded Resident Agreement was not identified. CP 1046-1055. First American Title issued subsequent assurances to Mr. Gleesing throughout the year of 2009. CP 1056-1061. At no time did Raun's recorded Resident Agreement, or any other resident agreement, appear in the reports.

Raun's argument Mr. Gleesing had a duty of inquiry or investigation almost exclusively relies upon Judge Williams' March 11, 2011, Memorandum Decision. App. Brief at 21, 25-26. Judge Williams found the "Caudill Group obtained a title report on the property, which revealed the two recorded Resident Agreements...." App. Brief at p. 13; CP 289. It is unknown what title report, or other evidence, Judge Williams is referring to. More importantly, Raun does not provide such a report to support her claims. As set forth in the 2004 Policy of Title Insurance, the 2008 Trustee's Sale Guarantee and subsequent Endorsements, the existence of Plaintiff's recorded Resident Agreement was never disclosed to Mr. Gleesing.

The evidence is clear Mr. Gleesing acted reasonably in determining interested parties and encumbrances to the Clare House property. At no time was Mr. Gleesing provided actual or constructive notice that Raun was anything other than a renter at Clare House. Raun has provided no

explanation as to what additional "investigation" Mr. Gleesing should have conducted. More importantly, Raun has failed to provide any legal authority Mr. Gleesing owed an individual duty to her or acted in any manner inconsistent with the DTA.

# D. The Trial Court Properly Ruled the DTA Statutory Notices at Issue Cannot Constitute a "Threat" of Eviction as a Matter of Law.

Raun alleges she was forced to move from her Clare House bungalow due to constant "threats" of eviction. App. Brief at p. 28. These alleged "threats" are solely derived from the statutory language required to be included in the Notices of Trustee's Sales and subsequent Amended Notices by the DTA. RCW 61.24.040; RCW 61.24.060. The specific language at issue is as follows:

## X. NOTICE TO OCCUPANTS OR TENANTS.

The purchaser at the trustee's sale is entitled to possession of the property on the 20th day following the sale, as against the grantor under the deed of trust (the owner) and anyone having an interest junior to the deed of trust, including occupants and tenants. After the 20th day following the sale, the purchaser has the right to evict occupants and tenants by summary proceedings under the Unlawful Detainer Act, Chapter 59.12 RCW.

RCW 61.24.040(1)(f).

Plaintiff's allegation the above language constituted a "threat" is a gross misinterpretation of the statutory language. As appropriately titled by the State Legislature, the above clause was a "Notice," not a threat. The Notice advises any occupant or tenant that a <u>purchaser</u> at the trustee's sale has the <u>option</u> to evict occupants and tenants under the State's Unlawful Detainer Act. It should also be noted that a purchaser at a trustee's sale only has a right to pursue eviction against "anyone having an interest <u>junior</u> to the deed of trust." Judge Williams found Raun's right to occupancy was superior to the interests of the Caudill Group. CP 290.

The Rauns were not unsophisticated individuals. Mrs. Raun was a licensed realtor and associate broker in the State of New Jersey. She was also a licensed realtor in the State of Washington prior to her retirement. By her own account, she oversaw the development and sale of over 200 homes and condominiums. CP 1071 at 10:1-8. Chester Raun, Ph.D., was a retired University professor. Most importantly, Raun testified all of the statutory notices identified in her Complaint were received through the filter of her and the Association's attorney, Mr. Zeimantz. Raun relied upon the advice of her attorney to allow her to "feel a little bit more secure than we would have if we hadn't had any representation." CP 1078 at 39:25, 40:1-3. The statutory notices issued by Mr. Gleesing, and received by Raun from her own attorney and through another Association member, did no more and no less than provide her due process and the opportunity to have her interest determined by the court. Notice and the opportunity to be heard is the purpose of the

DTA's requirement in providing "notice" to occupants and tenants of a pending foreclosure. It is unknown how the statutory language can be misconstrued as a "threat" of eviction directed against her.

It is undisputed Raun was not evicted. There is no evidence any Clare
House occupant was evicted as a specific result of the Trustee's Sale.

# 1. Receipt of Notice of Trustee's Sale Does Not Constitute the Basis for an Unlawful Eviction and/or Violation of RCW 59.18.290 as a Matter of Law.

It is undisputed Mr. Gleesing never instituted an unlawful detainer action as allowed under RCW 59.12. The statutory notice Raun alleges constitutes her "threat" of eviction was nothing more than notice. The Notice to Occupants or Tenants begins with "The purchaser at the trustee's sale is entitled to possession of the property on the 20th day following the sale...." It is unfathomable how Raun, as a licensed realtor in the State of Washington, can misconstrue the Notice as a threat. Ironically, Raun, through her attorney, Mr. Zeimantz, in August of 2009, stipulated to allow the Trustee's Sale to go forward. In June of 2010, Raun sent a letter to Harry Green of Clare House, informing him that pursuant to the pending litigation she has voluntarily decided to move out. There was never a request for her to vacate her bungalow.

///

///

# 2. The Issuance of a Notice of Trustee's Sale Cannot Support Claims of Continuing Trespass or Violation of RCW 4.24.630 as a Matter of Law.

Raun correctly identifies the four elements that constitute the tort of trespass. (App. Brief at 31). Other than issuing the statutory Notice of Trustee's Sale as required by the DTA, there was no other act taken by Mr. Gleesing. None of the elements of trespass are supported by the evidence or the law in this case. The Notice of Trustee's Sale specifically references a potential of an unlawful detainer action being filed after a subsequent event occurs, namely the purchaser at the trustee's sale decides to institute that right on the 21st day after the purchase. A foreclosure sale did not occur until September 30, 2011. CP 554. Raun, for a variety of reasons, chose to vacate her bungalow as of July 1, 2010. It is assumed she left with all of her personal possessions. The issuance of a statutory Notice of Trustee's Sale cannot be the foundation for the tort of trespass.

## 3. The Issuance of a Notice of Trustee's Sale Does Not Violate RCW 4.24.630 as a Matter of Law.

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